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BOARD’S REPORT

Dear Members,

Your directors have pleasure in presenting their seventh report on the business and
operations of Confirm Ticket Online Soluticns Private Limited (the “Company’)
together with the audited financial statements for the financial year ended March 31,

2022.
l. Financial Statements and Results

1. Financial Results

The financial performances of your Company’s operations are summarized

i
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below:
(T in Thousands)
: As at March As at March
| Feriediers 31st 2022 31st 2021
Income
Revenue from operations 12,82,054.31 372,369.50
OtherIncome 3719.70 1,384.13
‘Total income (1) 12,85,774.01 373,753.63
Expenses
Employee benefit expense 74,911.64 42,321.92
Finance cost 740.92 116.15
Depreciation and amortization expense 105.03 207.97
Other expenses 10,16,683 303,954.89
Total expense (II) 10,92,440.58 346,600.93
Profit / (loss) before tax (1) - (II) 1,93,333.42 27,152.70
Tax expenses
Current tax (565399.33) (4,406.99)
Deferred tax 457176 (3063.30)
Profit after tax 1,42,505.86 19,682.41
Other comprehensive income
ltems that will not be reclassified to statement of profit
and loss in subsequent periods
Re-measurement gains on defined benefit plans (778.94) (1531.03)
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 196.04 385.33
to profit and loss
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year, net 1,41,922.95 18,536.71
of taxes
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- As at March As at March
FARere 31st 2022 31st 2021
Earnings per equity share (Nominal value per share - ¥1) ]
Basic 1053.52 145.51
Diluted 1006.27 139.22

2. Resuit of Operation

e Total income during the year 2021-22 increased to %1,285.77 million as
against ¥ 373.75 million during the year 2020-21, a growth of 244.01%;

e Profit before tax was ¥193.33 million during the year 2021-22 as compared
to profit of ¥ 27.15 million during 2020-21, a growth of 612.02%,

e Profit after tax was T 142.51 million during the year 2021-22 as compared to
profit of ¥ 19.68 million during 2020-21, a growth of 624.03%;

e Basic earnings per share (Nominal value per share ¥10) was ¥1053.52
for the year 2021-22 as compared to a profit of ¥ 145.51 for the year 2020-
21, a growth of 624.03%;

o Diluted earnings per share (Nominal value per share 210) was ¥ 1006.27 for
the year 2021-22 as compared to a profit of ¥ 139.22 per share for the year
2020-21, a growth of 622.78%;

Impact of Covid-19 and ease of restrictions on travel

The outbreak of Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic globally has resulted in
economic slowdown. Various restrictions on travel were imposed across the
globe. Following the pandemic, the travel industry is experiencing an exceptional
rise in the number of travel bookings. The sector that suffered massive losses
during the lockdown is expected to grow significantly as COVID-19 restrictions
have been relaxed and people have been vaccinated. With the increase in
bookings railway ficket bookings have surpassed pre-COVID levels, with
almost 2.7 million people buying reserved tickets every day confirmtkt is
committed to focus on creating value for customers and making travel hassle-
free for them.

The health and safety of all employees has always been the top priority of your
Company. In line with the guidelines issued by the Government, the Company
implemented key measures across every touch point to ensure the safety of its
people. The Company has always been agile in adapting to change, which made
the ftransition to ‘Work from Home' operations swift and smooth, ensuring
business continuity. The teams were quick to adapt to the new way of working
with all the meetings across business verticals and functions being conducted
online. For critical operations which needed people to be present onsite,
proactive steps were taken in transforming the workspace keeping social
distancing norms at therefore. Safety and hygiene protocols, including alternate
seating arrangements, a clean desk pclicy and temperature screening at all entry
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points’ ensured safety of the employees. Your Company continued to take
critical steps in ensuring the safety of its people by initiating a vaccination
program for all its employees and their families as soon as the government
allowed private sector’s participation.

Appropriation and Reserves

Dividend

With a view to reinvest the profits of the business, the board of directors of your
Company (the “Board”) does not recommend any dividend on equity shares of
the Company for year ended March 31, 2022.

Reserves

Your directors have not proposed to transfer any amount to reserves for the
financial year 2021-22.

Holding, Subsidiaries, Joint ventures and Associates of the Company
Holding Company:

Le Travenues Technology Limited continues to be the Holding Company
pursuant to Section 2(87) of the Companies Act, 2013 and there was no change
in this position during the Financial Year 2021-22.

During the Financial Year 2021-22, Le Travenues Technology Limited increased
its stake from 52.73% to 83.68%.

Subsidiary Company:

Your Company does not have any Subsidiary Company and there was no
change in this position during the Financial Year 2021-22.

Associate Company:

Your Company does not have any Associate Company and there was no change
in this position during the Financial Year 2021-22.

Revision of Financial Statement
There was no revision of the financial statements for the year under review.
Changes in the capital structure

During the year under review, there was no change in the authorized, subscribed
and paid-up share capital of the Company.
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10.

1.

Employee Stock Option Scheme

ESOP Scheme

The employees of the Company are entitled for grant of stock options (equity
shares), based on the eligibility criteria set in ESOP Plans of the Company.

The fair value of options granted under the ESOP Plans is recognised as an
employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The total
expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all
of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period,
the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

Disclosure in compliance with rule 12 of companies (share capital and
debentures) rules, 2014 have been furnished in Annexure - 1.

Public Deposits

During the financial year under review, your Company has not accepted or
renewed any deposit falling within the purview of the provisions of Sections 73
and 74 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) read with the Companies
(Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014. Accordingly, the requirement for
furnishing of details of deposits which are not in compliance with Chapter V of
the Act is not applicable.

Amendment / Alteration of the Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association of the Company

During the year under review, the Memorandum of Association of the Company
were amended with the approval of the members at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on February 03, 2022 for Shifting of the registered
office from Hyderabad, State of Telangana toc Gurugram, State of Haryana.

Disclosures under Section 134(3)(l) of the Companies Act, 2013

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this report, no material changes and
commitments which could affect the Company’s financial position have occurred
between the end of the financial year of the Company and date of this report.

Disclosure of internal financial controls

The internal financial controls with reference to financial statements as designed
and implemented by the Company are adequate. The Company has, in all
material respects, an adequate internal financial control over financial reporting
and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating
effectively as at March 31, 2022, based on the internal control over financial
reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAL
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12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Particulars of contracts or arrangements made with related parties

Particulars of Contacts or Arrangement with related parties referred to in Section
188(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, in the prescribed Form AOC - 2, have been
furnished in Annexure - 2 which forms part of this report.

Particulars of loans, guarantees and investments

The particulars of loans, guarantees or investments made during the Financial
Year 2021-22, if any, have been disclosed in the notes attached to and forming
part of the Financial Statements of the Company prepared for the Financial Year
ended March 31, 2022, as per the provisions of Section 186 and Section 134(3)
(g) of the Companies Act, 2013.

Disclosure under Section 43(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, 2013

During the financial year under review, the Company has not issued any shares
with differential voting rights and hence no information as per provisions of
Section 43(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with applicable rules is
furnished.

Disclosure under Section 54(1)(d) of the Companies Act, 2013

During the financial year under review, the Company has not issued any sweat
shares and hence no information as per the provisions of Section 54(1)(d) of the
Companies Act, 2013 read with applicable rules is furnished.

Disclosure under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013

The Company had 06 Directors as on March 31, 2021. Details of remuneration
paid to the Directors, have been disclosed in the notes attached to and forming
part of the Financial Statements of the Company prepared for the Financial Year
ended March 31, 2022.

Operational performance

We are a technology company focused on empowering Indian travelers to plan,
book and manage their trips across rail, air, buses and hotels. We assist
travelers in making smarter travel decisions by leveraging artificial intelligence,
machine learning and data science led innovations on our OTA platforms,
comprising our websites and mobile applications. Our vision is to become the
most customer-centric travel company, by offering the best customer experience
to our users. Our focus on travel utility and customer experience for travelers in
the ‘next billion user’ segment is driven by technology, cost-efficiency and our
culture of innovation. Qur OTA platforms allow travelers to book train tickets,
flight tickets, bus tickets, while providing travel utility tools and services
developed using in-house proprietary algorithms and crowd-sourced information,
including train PNR status and confirmation predictions, train seat availability
alerts, train running status updates and delay predictions, flight status updates,
bus running status, pricing and availability alerts, deal discovery, destination
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content, personalized recommendations, instant fare alerts for flights and
automated customer support services.

We endeavour that our OTA platforms are able to build significant user adoption
and engagement by offering convenience, utility and value-added customer-
centric solutions for travel related issues. Our Registered Users increased at a
CAGR of 83.7% between Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2022 and our Repeat
Transaction Rate was 85.47% in Fiscal 2022. Further, the yearly downloads for
our mobile apps on the Google Play Store and iOS app stores stood at 25.62
million in Fiscal 2022, respectively.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, several of our actions helped us build and grow
trust and word-of-mouth among our users and ecosystem. For example, we did
not lay off any team members during the pandemic, boosted the staff strength of
our outsourced call center to serve our customers, we reduced our online
marketing expenditure and our innovative and engaging videos enabled us to
organically improve our brand salience as we continued to engage with users
through informative messages even during the lockdowns imposed due to
COVID-19 pandemic which restricted travel. We built a COVID-19 Travel Guide
section on our website and apps to provide accurate, up-to-date information to
our users for travel restrictions, e-pass / COVID-19 testing requirements for
various cities and states in India and visa and entry restrictions for foreign
countries. We built and launched our free cancellation option for bookings to
enable our customers to make bookings but receive refunds in case they decide
to cancel their trips for any reason.

While the impact of COVID-19 in the first and second quarters of Fiscal 2021
was significant on our operations, we have witnessed a rebound over the
subsequent quarters of Fiscal 2021.

Despite the challenges and disruptions posed by COVID 19, the total income of
the Company has recorded a growth of 244.01% as compared to the previous
financial year. Your Company had achieved profitability with a PAT of ¥ 142.51
million during the period under review.

For further detailed analysis of the operational performance of your Company,

please refer to financial statements of the Company forming a part of the Annual
Report.

Disclosure related to Directors and Key Managerial Personnel
Directors

During the year under review, the following changes took place in the board of
directors of the Company.

a) At the Extra Ordinary General Meeting of the Company held on August 06,

2021 the members approved the appointment of Ms. Shubha Rao Mayya as
Independent Director.
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b) At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on September 17, 2021
the changes took place in the board of directors of the Company.

e Mr. Aloke Bajpai appointed as Additional Director was regularized as
Director

e Mr. Rajnish Kumar appointed as Additional Director was regularized as
Director

e Mr. Puneet Aggarwal appointed as Additional Director was regularized
as Director

e Mr. Kotha Dinesh Kumar, retiring Director was reappointed.

Your Board has received declarations fram all Independent Directors confirming
that they meet the criteria of independence as laid down under Section 149 of
the Act. During the year under review, there has been no change in the
circumstances affecting their status as Independent Directors of your Company.
None of the directors of the Company are disqualified as per the provisions of
Section 164(2) of the Companies Act, 2013.

2. Retirement by rotation

In accordance with the provisions of Section 152 and other applicable
provisions, if any, of the Act (including any statutory modification(s) or
reenactment (s) thereof for the time being in force) and the Articles of
Association of the Company, Mr. Sripad Vaidya, Director of the Company Is
liable to retire by rotation at the ensuing AGM and being eligible has offered
himself for re-appointment. Your Board recommends his re-appointment. A
resolution seeking shareholders’ approval for his re-appointment along with
other required details form part of the AGM Notice.

Key Managerial Personnel

During the year under review, your Board had appointed Mr. Rajendra Manker
as the Company Secretary of the Company effective September 01, 2021.

IV. Disclosures related to Board, Commifttees and Policies

1.

Board Meetings

During the financial year under review, the board of directors met 8 times in
accordance with the provisions of the Campanies Act, 2013 and the rules made
thereunder on the following dates with necessary quorum being present at all
the meetings.

a) April 02, 2021;

b) May 03, 2021,

c) June 14, 2021;

d) July 27, 2021;

e) August 05, 2021;

f) September 13, 2021;
g) December 29, 2021;
h) February 07, 2022.
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Following are the number of Board meetings attended by each director:

S. Name of the Director Number of
No. meetings attended
1.  Aloke Bajpai 08
2.  Rajnish Kumar 08
3.  Kotha Dinesh Kumar 08
4.  Sripad Vaidya 08
5.  Shubha Rao Mayya 03
(Independent Director)
6.  Puneet Aggarwal 07

2. Directors’ Responsibility Statement

Pursuant to Section 134(3)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Board of
Directors of the Company confirms that:

I. in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting
standards had been followed along with proper explanation relating to
material departures, if any;

ii. the directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them
consistently and made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of the affairs of the
Company at the end of the financial year and of the profit and loss of the
Company for that period;

iii.  the directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance
of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act, 2013 for safeguarding the assets of the Company and
for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

iv.  the directors have prepared the annual accounts on a going concern
basis; and

v. the directors have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with
the provisions of all applicable laws and that such systems were
adequate and operating effectively.

3. Committees of the Board

The company being deemed public Company not covered within the threshold
limits criteria of constitution of committee so the provisions of Section 177 of the
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 6 and 7 of the Companies (Meetings of
the Board and its Powers) Rules, 2013 is not applicable to the Company.

4. Policies
(A) Vigil Mechanism Policy for the Directors and Employees

For the year under review, your Company was not covered within the
threshold limits set out under Rule 7 of the Companies (Meetings of Board
and its Powers) Rules, 2014 read with Section 177(9) of the Companies
Act, 2013.
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However voluntarily the Company have a vigil mechanism in place for
reporting genuine concerns or grievances by employees / directors. The
vigil mechanism provides adequate safeguards against victimization to
any employees and/or directors who use the mechanism to report their
concerns or grievances.

During the year under review, the Company has not received any
complaint under the Vigil Mechanism.

(B) Policy on Directors’ Appointment and Remuneration

For the year under review, your Company was not covered under Sub
Section (1) of Section 178. Hence the provisions of Section 134(3)(e) of
the Companies Act, 2013 were not applicable to the Company.

(C) Corporate Social Responsibility Policy

For the year under review, your Company was not covered within the
threshold limits set out under Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013.
Hence the provisions of Section 134(3)(0) of the Companies Act, 2013
were not applicable to the Company.

(D) Risk Management Policy

Your Company has put in place a Risk Management Policy based on the
guiding principles of identifying, assessing and mitigation of risks. It is an
integral part of decision-making for your Company and is dynamic in
nature, undergoing continuous improvement. The Risk Management
process involves setting objectives, identifying key risks on an on-going
basis, developing a mitigation action plan and monitoring.

V. Auditors and Reports

1.

Statutory Auditors

At Sixth Annual General Meeting held on 17t September 2021, the shareholder
had approved the appointment of M/s. S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP,
Chartered Accountants; (ICAI Firm Registration No. 101049W/E300004) was
appointed as statutory auditors of your Company until the conclusion of the
Eleventh Annual General Meeting in accordance with the provisions of Section
139 of the Act. Pursuant to the amendment to Section 139 of the Act, with
effect from May 7, 2018, the requirement of seeking Shareholders’ ratification
for continuance of Statutory Auditor at every AGM is no longer applicable.

Auditors’ Report
The Audit Reports given by the Statutory Auditors of your Company on the

financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2022, form part of
the Annual Report.
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The Statutory Audit Report of M/s S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP, Chartered
Accountants do not contain any qualification, reservation or adverse remarks
on Audited Financial Results of the Company for the financial year 21-22.

Further, the Auditors’ qualification in respect of slight delay in deposit of
undisputed statutory dues with statutory authorities has been dealt with and
paid subsequently and there have been no undisputed statutory dues
outstanding at the year-end. The management is fully committed to depositing
all statutory dues within due dates and making all efforts to arrange the
necessary resources and collecting relevant data required for this purpose.

VIi. Other Disclosures
1. Annual Return

In compliance with the provisions of Section 92(3) and Section 134(3)(a) of the
Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder, a copy of the Company’s
Annual Return in form MGT-7 as on March 31, 2022, is available on the
Investor Relations Section of the website of your Company at
www.confirmtkt.com

2. Prevention and prohibition of sexual harassment of women at workplace

At Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited, we are committed to provide
a healthy work environment that is free of discrimination and unlawful
harassment and that enables employees to work without fear of prejudice,
gender bias and sexual harassment. In keeping with this commitment, your
Company expressly and strictly prohibits any form of employee harassment
based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, disability, or status in
any group protected by state or local law. The Company has always
endeavored for providing a better and safe environment free of sexual
harassment at all its workplaces.

Your Company had complied with the provisions of the Sexual Harassment of
Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 (“Act”)
and Rules made thereunder, relating to the constitution of Internal Complaints
Committee and had continued conducting workshops and awareness programs
for sensitizing the employees with the provisions of the Act during the year
under review.

For the year ended March 31, 2022, no cases of sexual harassment were
reported to the Internal Complaints Committee constituted by the Company.

3. Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption, Foreign Exchange
Earnings and Outgo
The particulars as required under the provisions of Section 134(3)(m) of the

Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 8 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules,
2014 in respect of conservation of energy, technology absorption, foreign
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10.

exchange earnings and outgo etc. are set out in Annexure — 3 which forms
part of this report.

Non-applicability of maintenance of cost records

The Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance of cost records
under Section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the rules made
thereunder with respect to the business carried on by the Company.

Reporting of Fraud

The Auditors of your Company have not reported any instances of fraud
committed in your Company by its officers or employees as specified under
Sub-Section (12) of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013.

Significant and material orders passed by the regulators, courts, or
tribunals

At the Extra Ordinary General Meeting of the Company held on February 09,
2022 the members approved the shifting of registered office of the Company
from Hyderabad, Sate of Telangana to Gurugram, State of Haryana and
company filed the petition on March 08, 2022 before the Regional Director
which is approved by good office of Regional Director on April 26, 2022.

There are no significant or material orders passed by the regulators, courts or
tnbunals which would impact the going concern status of the Company and its
operations in future.

Compliance with Secretarial Standards on Board and General Meetings
During the year under review, your Company has complied with the applicable
provisions of Secretarial Standard - 1 and Secretarial Standard - 2 issued by
the Institute of Company Secretaries of India.

Change in the nature of business carried on by the Company

During the year under review, there has been no change in the nature of
business carried on by the Company.

Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016

During the year under review, no application has been made and no
proceeding is pending against the Company under the Insolvency and
Bankruptcy Code, 2016.

One time settlement with any bank or financial institution

During the year under review, there was no instance of any one time settlement
with any bank or financial institution.
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Vil. Acknowledgement and Appreciation

Your directors take this opportunity to thank the customers, employees,
investors, vendors, banks, business associates, regulatory authorities including
the various offices of the Central and State Governments, Reserve Bank of
India, the Registrar of Companies for the support, valuable assistance and co-
operation continuously extended to the Company. Your directors gratefully
acknowledge the trust and confidence and look forward for their continued

support in the future.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Confirm Ticket Online solutions Private Limited

Koth.a Dinesh Kumar
(Director & CEQ)
DIN: 07092682

Date: May 04, 2022
Place: Bangalore

Sripad Vaidya L 3»;:"//
(Director & COO)
DIN: 07092692

Date: May 04, 2022
Place: Bangalore
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Annexure-l

Details relating to the employees stock option schemes of the Company in
compliance with the provisions of Section 62(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2013
read with Clause (9) of Rule 12 of the Companies (Share Capital and
Debentures) Rules, 2014.

Details with respect to the following employee’s stock option schemes of the
Company as on March 31, 2022 are as follows:

1. ESOP 2015;
2. ESOP 2016; and
3. ESOP 2021

' S. No.
(a)

_____ Particulars

ESOP 2015

ESOP 2016

ESOP 2021

Date of shareholders’ approval

27.11.2015

06.06.2016

06.01.2021

(b)

Total number of options
approved under the Scheme

3585

3536

(c)

| Options granted during the year

236

(d)

Options vested during the year

900

(e)

Options exercised during the
year

(®

The total number of shares
arising as a result of exercise of
option during the year

(9)

Options lapsed/Cancelled during
the year

917

g

236

(h)

Exercise price (as on the date of
grant of options)

Rs. 10 per
option

Rs. 10 per
option

Rs. 10 per
option

(i)

Variation of terms of options
during the year

()

Money realized by exercise of
options during the year

(k)

Total number of options in force
at the end of the year

290

407

()

Employee wise details of options granted to

(i)

Key managerial personnel during the year

Nil

(ii)

Any other employee who receives a grant of options in any
one year of option amounting to five percent or more of
options granted during that year (for FY22):

Nil

(iif)

the company at the time of grant

Identified employees who were granted option, during any
one year, equal to or exceeding one per cent of the issued
capital (excluding outstanding warrants and conversions) of

Nil
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The following changes took place in the employee’s stock option plans of the
Company.

1. The Board at its meeting held on January 29, 2021 had approved the
modification ESOP 2015 and ESOP 2016 to provide the right to cancel the
Options granted to the Option-holders and paying the cash to the holders.

2. The Board at its meeting held on May 03, 2021 has cancelled 4,273
employees stock options issued to employees and in lieu of the same; the
holding company issued 3,914 options to eligible employees.

For further details please refer to Note No. 33 of the Financial Statements which
forms an integral part of the Annual Report.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Confirm Ticket Online solutions Private Limited

£

Kotha Dinesh Kumar 7 5 & Sripad Vaidya L2 =
(Director & CEQ) . (Director & COO)

DIN: 07092682 DIN: 07092692

Date: May 04, 2022 Date: May 04, 2022

Place: Bangalore Place: Bangalore
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Annexure - 2
FORM NO. AOC -2
Particulars of contracts or arrangements made with related parties
[Pursuant to Clause (h) of Sub-section (3) of Section 134 of the Companies Act,
2013, and Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 - AOC-2]

This Form pertains to the disclosure of particulars of contracts / arrangements
entered into by the Company with related parties referred to in Sub-section (1) of
Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm's length transactions
under third proviso thereto.

Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis

(a) Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship All the contracts or

(b) Nature of contracts / arrangements / transactions arrangements or

(c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements/transactions transactions

(d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or entered into during
transactions including the value, if any the year ended

(e) Justification for entering into such contracts or March 31, 2022
arrangements or transactions are on arm's length

(f) date(s) of approval by the Board basis and in the

(g) Amount paid as advances, if any ordinary course of

(h) Date on which the special resolution was passed in business, in view
general meeting as required under first proviso to of the same the
section 188 details required

herein are not
applicable.

Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions at arm’s length
basis

The term material is not defined under the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made
thereunder. However, it is defined under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 as follows:

‘A transaction with a related party shall be considered material if the transaction(s) to
be entered into individually or taken together with previous transactions during a
financial year, exceeds ten percent of the annual consolidated tumover of the listed
entity as per the last audited financial statements of the listed entity.”

During the year under review, your Company had entered into any arrangement /
transaction / contract with its related parties which could be considered material and
required approval of the Board. Accordingly, the disclosure of the particulars of the
related party transactions in form AOC -2 as required under Section 134(3)(h) of the
Act is not applicable.

(@) Name(s) of the related party and nature of Le Travenues
relationship Technology Limited
(b) Nature of contracts / arrangements / Master Service
transactions Agreement
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(c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements /

transactions

3 Years

(d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements  Transaction to be taken

or transactions including the value, if any

(e) Date(s) of approval by the Board, if any
() Amount paid as advances, if any

under normal course of
business.

13.09.2021

Nil

For further details on related party transactions, please refer the notes to the

financial statements.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Confirm Ticket Online solutions Private Limited

c )

Kotha Dinesh Kumar
(Director & CEO)
DIN: 07092682

Date: May 04, 2022
Place: Bangalore

Sripad Vaidya o B
(Director & COO)
DIN: 07092692

Date: May 04, 2022
Place: Bangalore
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Annexure - 3
Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption, Foreign Exchange
Earnings and Outgo

Particulars, as prescribed by Section 134(3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013, read
with Rule 8(3) of the Companies (Account) Rules, 2014, in respect of conservation of
energy, technology absorption and foreign exchange earnings and outgo, to the
extent applicable to the Company, are given bealow:

a)

(i)

Conservation of Energy
Steps taken or impact on conservation of energy

Though your Company does not have energy intensive operation, every
endeavor has been made to ensure the optimal usage of energy, avoid wastage
and conserve energy. Due to nationwide lockdown announced by the
Government of India we have transitioned substantial part of the work to be
performed by our employees while working from home resulting in substantial
reduction in energy consumption.

Steps taken by the Company for utilizing alternate sources of energy

Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited being a technology company, its
operations is not energy intensive, and the energy consumption and energy
costs constitute a very small portion of the total cost. The steps taken by the
Company for utilizing alternate sources of energy are not significant.

(i) the capital investment on energy conservation equipment's

b)

We constantly evaluate new technologies and makes appropriate investments to
be energy efficient for example using energy efficient equipment and devices,
replacing CFL fittings with LEDs fittings to reduce power consumption, timely
preventive maintenance of equipment’'s. The air is conditioned with energy
efficient compressors for central air conditioning and with split air conditioning for
localized areas.

Research and Development

We are a technology-driven company and our technology platforms have been
designed to deliver a high level of reliability, security, scalability, integration and
innovation. Our technology team has adopted a continuous improvement, high-
frequency testing approach to our business, aimed at improving both traffic and
conversion rates, while maintaining reliability. We use our technology
infrastructure to improve the user experience and optimize the efficiency of our
business operations.

We have developed our platforms in-house which has enabled us to better
manage our product and service offerings and improve operating efficiencies by
integrating our sales, delivery and user service functions. Your Company has
incurred expenses of approximately ¥ 15.45 million during the period under
review towards technology and related cost.
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c) Foreign exchange earnings and outgo

The total foreign exchange used and earned by the Company during the year as
compared with the previous year is as follows:

Particulars Financial Year ended (%)
31.03.2022 31.03.2021
Foreign exchange eamings 55,17,086 56,50,898
Foreign exchange expenditure 41,58,821 27,26,659

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Confirm Ticket Online solutions Private Limited

Kotha Dinesh Kumar \ A _,{f

(Director & CEO) \f’-’;’? # “/ (Director & COQ)
DIN: 07092682 DIN: 07092692
Date: May 04, 2022 Date: May 04, 2022
Place: Bangalore Place: Bangalore
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private
Limited (“the Company™). which comprise the Balance sheet as at March 31, 2022, the Statement of
Profit and Loss, including the statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and
the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us. the
aforesaid financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act. 2013, as amended
(“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting
principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2022, its
profit including other comprehensive income, its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended
on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs),
as specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements™ section of our
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the *Code of Ethics” issued by the
[nstitute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of
Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements.

Other Information

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Directors report, but does not include the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and. in doing so, consider whether such other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed. we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibility of Management for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act
with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial
position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in
equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India,
including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act read with
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. This responsibility also
includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for
safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent: and the design. implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness
of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that
give a true and fair view and are [ree [rom material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

[n preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable. matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations. or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance. but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if. individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions. misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act. we are also
responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such
controls.

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence. and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

9

o)

As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order™), issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act. we give in the
“Annexure 17 a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of those books:

(¢) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other
Comprehensive Income. the Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt
with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards
specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards)
Rules, 2015, as amended;

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2022
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31,
2022 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act;

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to these financial
statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in
“Annexure 27 to this report:

(2) In our opinion, the managerial remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2022 has been paid
by the Company to its directors in accordance with the provisions of section 197 read with
Schedule V to the Act:
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(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with
Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to
the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

V.

L

iii.

The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial
position;

The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for
which there were any material foreseeable losses;

There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education
and Protection Fund by the Company.

a) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds
have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium
or any other sources or kind of funds) by the company to or in any other person(s) or
entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries™), with the understanding, whether
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly
lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on
behalf of the company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security or the
like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

b) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds
have been received by the company from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign
entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or
otherwise, that the company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other
persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding
Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf
of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; and

¢) Based on such audit procedures that were considered reasonable and appropriate in the
circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the

representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material misstatement.

No dividend has been declared or paid during the year by the Company.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004
! (\\ 3 .

\ _‘“\\\J\

3

D

'

~J

per Yc%iaq_;der Seth

Partner

Membershi;a Number: 94524

UDIN: 22094524A1KPZY 5543
Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: May 04, 2022
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Annexure 1 referred to in paragraph 1 of Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
of our report of even date

Re: Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited (“the Company™)

In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and given by the company and the
books of account and records examined by us in the normal course of audit and to the best of our
knowledge and belief, we state that:

(i) (a)(A)The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including
quantitative details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

(B) The Company has not capitalized any intangible assets in the books of the Company and
accordingly. the requirement to report on clause 3(i)(a)(B) of the Order is not applicable to
the Company.

(b) Property, Plant and Equipment have been physically verified by the management during the
year and no material discrepancies were identified on such verification.

(¢) There is no immovable property (other than properties where the Company is the lessee and the
lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee), held by the Company and
accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(i)(¢) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

(d

—

The Company has not revalued its Property. Plant and Equipment during the year ended March
31,2022,

(e) There are no proceedings initiated or are pending against the Company for holding any benami
property under the Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act. 1988 and rules made
thereunder.

(ii) (a) The Company’s business does not require maintenance of inventories and, accordingly, the
requirement to report on clause 3(ii)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(b) As disclosed in note 38 to the financial statements, the Company has been sanctioned working
capital limits in excess of Rs. five crores in aggregate from banks and/or financial institutions
during the year on the basis of security of current assets of the Company. The terms of the
working capital limits requires the Company to file annual statement with the respective banks.
The Company will be submitting the required statements in due course.

(iti)(a) During the year the Company has not provided loans, advances in the nature of loans. stood
guarantee or provided security to companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other
parties. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(iii)(a) of the Order is not applicable
to the Company.

(b) During the year the Company has not made investments, provided guarantees. provided security
and granted loans and advances in the nature of loans to companies, firms, Limited Liability
Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(iii)(b) of
the Order is not applicable to the Company.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The Company has not granted loans and advances in the nature of loans to companies, firms,
Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly, the requirement to report on
clause 3(iii)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not granted loans and advances in the nature of loans to companies, firms,
Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly. the requirement to report on
clause 3(iii)(d) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

There were no loans or advance in the nature of loan granted to companies, firms, Limited

Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly. the requirement to report on clause
3(iti)(e) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans, either repayable on
demand or without specifying any terms or period of repayment to companies, firms, Limited
Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly. the requirement to report on clause
3(iii)(f) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

There are no loans, investments, guarantees, and security in respect of which provisions of
sections 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 are applicable and accordingly, the
requirement to report on clause 3(iv) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has neither accepted any deposits from the public nor accepted any amounts
which are deemed to be deposits within the meaning of sections 73 to 76 of the Companies Act
and the rules made thereunder, to the extent applicable. Accordingly, the requirement to report
on clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company is not in the business of sale of any goods or provision of such services as
prescribed. Accordingly. the requirement to report on clause 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable
to the Company

(vii) (a) Undisputed statutory dues including goods and services tax, provident fund, employees’ state

(b)

(viii)

insurance, income-tax, sales-tax, service tax. duty of custom, duty of excise, value added tax.
cess and other statutory dues have generally been regularly deposited with the appropriate
authorities though there has been a slight delay in a few cases. According to the information
and explanations given to us and based on audit procedures performed by us, no undisputed
amounts payable in respect of these statutory dues were outstanding, at the year end, for a period
of more than six months from the date they became payable.

There are no dues of goods and services tax, provident fund. employees’ state insurance, income
tax. sales-tax, service tax, customs duty, excise duty, value added tax, cess. goods and service
tax and other statutory dues which have not been deposited on account of any dispute.

The Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transaction. previously unrecorded in the
books of account, in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 as income during the
year. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(viii) of the Order is not applicable to
the Company.

(ix) (a) The Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the payment

of interest thereon to any lender.
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(b) The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or
government or any government authority.

(¢) The Company did not have any term loans outstanding during the year hence. the requirement
to report on clause (ix)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(d) Onanoverall examination of the financial statements of the Company. no funds raised on short-
term basis have been used for long-term purposes by the Company.

(e)  Onan overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, the Company has not
taken any funds from any entity or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

()  The Company did not raise any funds during the year hence, the requirement to report on
clause (ix)(d) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(x)(a)  The Company has not raised any money during the year by way of initial public offer / further
public offer (including debt instruments) hence, the requirement to report on clause 3(x)(a) of
the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(b) The Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares /fully or
partially or optionally convertible debentures during the year under audit and hence. the
requirement to report on clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(xi)(a) No fraud/ material fraud by the Company or no fraud / material fraud on the Company has been
noticed or reported during the year

(b) During the year. no report under sub-section (12) of section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013
has been filed by us in Form ADT — 4 as prescribed under Rule 13 of Companies (Audit and
Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government.

(c) As represented to us by the management. there are no whistle blower complaints received by
the Company during the year.

(xii)(a) The Company is not a nidhi Company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.
Therefore, the requirement to report on clause 3(xii)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

(b) The Company is not a nidhi company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.
Therefore, the requirement to report on clause 3(xii)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

(¢) The Company is not a nidhi company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.
Therefore, the requirement to report on clause 3(xii)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

(xiii)  Transactions with the related parties are in compliance with sections 177 and 188 of Companies
Act, 2013 where applicable and the details have been disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements, as required by the applicable accounting standards.
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(xiv)(a)

(b)

(xv)

(xvi)fa)

(b)

(d)
(xvii)
(xviii)

(xix)

(xx)(a)

Accountants

The Company does not have an internal audit system and is not required to have an internal
audit system under the provisions of Section 138 of the Companies Act, 2013. Therefore, the
requirement to report under clause 3(xiv)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company does not have an internal audit system and is not required to have an internal
audit system under the provisions of Section 138 of the Companies Act, 2013. Therefore, the
requirement to report under clause 3(xiv)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons
connected with its directors and hence requirement to report on clause 3(xv) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

The provisions of section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (2 of 1934) are not
applicable to the Company. Accordingly. the requirement to report on clause (xvi)(a) of the
Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not conducted any Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finance activities
without obtained a valid Certificate of Registration (CoR) from the Reserve Bank of India as
per the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934,

The Company is not a Core Investment Company as defined in the regulations made by Reserve
Bank of India. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(xvi) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

There is no Core Investment Company as a part of the Group. hence, the requirement to report
on clause 3(xvi) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not incurred cash losses in the current year and in the immediately preceding
financial year respectively.

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and accordingly
requirement to report on Clause 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

On the basis of the financial ratios disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements, ageing and
expected dates of realization of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, other
information accompanying the financial statements. our knowledge of the Board of Directors
and management plans and based on our examination of the evidence supporting the
assumptions, nothing has come to our attention. which causes us to believe that any material
uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that Company is not capable of meeting its
liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one
year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future
viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to the date
of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling
due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the Company
as and when they fall due.

n respect of other than ongoing projects, there are no unspent amounts that are required to be
transferred to a fund specified in Schedule VII of the Companies Act (the Act), in compliance
with second proviso to sub section 5 of section 135 of the Act. This matter has been disclosed
in note 25 (b) to the financial statements.
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(b) There are no unspent amounts in respect of ongoing projects, that are required to be transferred
to a special account in compliance of provision of sub section (6) of section 135 of Companies
Act. This matter has been disclosed in note 25 (b) to the financial statements.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
. ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

J\‘&.; /
\\‘
\

\
per Yogender Seth
Partner
Membership Number: 94524
UDIN: 22094524 AIKPZY 5543
Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: May 04, 2022
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Annexure 2 to The Independent Auditor’s Report of Even Date on The Financial Statements of
Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Confirm Ticket
Online Solutions Private Limited (“the Company™) as of March 31, 2022 in conjunction with our audit
of the financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls
based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering
the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI™).
These responsibilities include the design. implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its
business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference
to these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note™)
and the Standards on Auditing, as specified under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable
to an audit of internal financial controls, both issued by ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to these financial statements
was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls with reference to these financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our
audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an
understanding of internal financial controls with reference to these financial statements, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
Judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements.
whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to these financial
statements.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to these Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company: (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation
of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to
the risk that the internal financial control with reference to financial statements may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2022, based on the internal control over financial
reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control
stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAL

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

per Yogender Seth

Partner

Membership Number: 94524
UDIN: 22094524AIKPZY 5543
Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: May 04, 2022



Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2022
(All amounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Financial asscts

'Other financial asscts
Non-Current tax asset (net)
Deferred tax assets (net)
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets

Current assets

Financial assets

(i) Trade receivables

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents

(iti) Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents
(iv) Other financial assets

Other current asscts

Total current assets

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Equity share capital

Other equity

Total equity

Liabilities

Non- current liabilities
Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities (net)
Total non- current liabilities

Current liabilities
Contract liabilities
Financial liabilities
(1) Trade payables

- total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises;

- total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and

small enterprises
(ii) Other financial liabilities
Other current liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Summary of significant accounting policies

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

As per our report of even date
For 5.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP

Chartered Accountants
ICAI firg registration number: 101049W/E300004

Membership No.: 94524

Place: Gurugram
Date: May 4, 2022

Notes

12
13

18
14

15
16
19
18

As at As at

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
0.19 0.23
2.00 2.00
5.85 3.0

373 =
3.54 6.54
15.31 11.78
795 2.71
54.80 63.78
74.00 15.34
22,52 5.67
186.21 55.13
345.48 142.63
360.79 154.41
L 1.35
177.81 29.59
179.16 30.94
6.40 3.29
- 1.03
6.40 4.32
18.58 18.12
0.82 1.67
55.41 29.25
92.61 61.20
5.14 8.24
2.67 0.67
175.23 119.15
181.63 123.47
360.79 154.41
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Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
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Sripad Vaidya
Director
DIN:- 07092692

Place: Bangalore
Date: May 4, 2022
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Dinesh Kumar
Director
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Rajendra Manker
Company Secretary

Place: Bangalore
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Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2022
(All amounts in INR millions, unless othcrwisc stated)

For the year ended For the year ended
Pl Nates March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
1 Revenue from operations 20 1,282.05 372.36
IT  Other income 21 3.72 1.39
I Total income (1 + 1) 1,285.77 373.75
IV Expenses
Employee benefits expense 22 74.91 4231
Depreciation and amortization expense 23 0.11 0.21
Finance costs 24 0.74 0.12
Other expenses 25 1,016.68 303.96
Total expenses 1,092.44 346.60
V' Profit before tax (HI-1V) 193.33 27.15
VI Tax expense: 14
Current tax 55.40 4.4
Deferred tax credit (4.57) 3.06
Total tax expense 50.83 7.47
VII Profit for the year (V-VI) 142.50 19.68
VIII Other comprehensive income 26
Items that will not be reclassified to statement of profit and loss in
subsequent years
Re-measurcment (loss) on defined benefit plans (0.78) (1.53)
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit 0.20 0.39
and loss
Other comprehensive (loss) for the years, net of tax {0.58) (1.14)
IX Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (VII+VIII) 141.92 18.54
X Earnings per equity share (Nominal value per share - INR 10) 27
Basic, computed on the basis of profit attributable to equity 1,053.24 145.46
holders (Rs)
Diluted, computed on the basis of profit/ attributable to equity 1,035.86 139,17
holders (Rs)
Summary of significant accounting policies 2
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date
For §.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
\ , ICAl firngegislration number: 101049W/E300004 CIN - UT4110TG2015PTC098079
LK W\
. ! ]
N\ ~ N
\b\'».d 5
per “l‘iasender Seth Sripad Vaidya Dinesh Kumar
Partuer:, Director Director
Memhers\'(ip No.: 94524 DIN:- 07092692 DIN:- 07092682
Place: Gurugram SRy 2 “ e Place: Bangalore Place: Bangalore
Date: May 4, 2022 = E Date: May 4, 2022 Date: May 4, 2022
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Rajendra Manker
Company Secretary

Place: Bangalore
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Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2022
(All amounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

A Cash flow from operating activities

i

2

D

Profit before tax

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:
Depreciation and amortization

Loss on foreign exchange (net)

Loss on sale of fixed assets

Provison written back

Impairment allowanee of trade receivables
Interest cost on borrowings

Employee stock aption scheme

Intangibles written off

Interest income on income tax refund
Interest income from:

- On deposits with bank and others

Operating profit / (loss) before working capital changes (142)

Working capital adjustments:

{Increase) / decrease in trade receivables
(Increase) in other financial assets

{Increase) in other current and non-current assets
Inerease / {decrease) in other financial fiabilitics
Inerease in trade payables

Increase in contract liabilities

(Decrease) / (increase) in other current hiabilities
Increase in provisions

Net changes in working capital

Cash flow from / (used in) operating activities (3+4)

Net Direel taxes paid / (tax refunds)
MNet cash flow from/ (used in) operating activities (5-6)

Cash flow from investing activities:

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and cquipment

Payment for purchasc of property, plant and equipment

Movement of term deposits with bank (having maturity of more than three
months)

Interest received

Net cash (used in) investing activities:

Cash flow from financing activities:
Proceeds from issue of equity shares , preference shares and securities

Finance costs paid
Net cash from / (used in) financing activities:

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31,2022 Mareh 31, 2021
193.33 27.15
011 0.21
0.13 0.04
04 -
0.05 0.15
0.74 0,12
6.30 2.5!
- 0.59
(0.04) (0.04)
(1.72) (1.27)
5.97 231
199.30 29.46
(5.29) 427
(16.85) (6.5T)
(128.09) (33.88)
3141 (87.35)
2478 836
0.46 31.09
(3.09) 1.32
5.11 0.96
(91.56) (81.80)
107.74 (52.34)
(59.01) (4.50)
48.73 (56.84)
0.05 0.02
(0.12) (0.12)
(58.66) (9.72)
1.76 0.497
_(56.97) (8.85)
- a.01
(0.74) (0.12)
(0.74) (0.11)
(8.98) (65.80)




Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2022
{All amounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

E Cash & cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year 63.78 129.58
Cash & cash equivalents as at the end of the year (D4E) 54.80 63.78
Cash and cash equivalents comprises:

Funds in transit 50.11 22.89
Balances with banks:
- Current account 4.69 40,89
Cash and cash equivalents (refer note 10) 54.80 63.78
Summary of significant accounting policies 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date

For S5.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
ICAI firm registration number: 101049W/E300004 CIN - UT4110TG2015PTC098079
Sripad Vaidyva I)i;'u:sh Kumar -
Dircctor Director -
——— DIN:- 07092692 DIN:- 07092682 .
Place: Gurugram = ; Place: Bangalore Place: Bangalore
N, ) Date: May 4, 2022 Date: May 4, 2022

Date: May 4, 2022

Rajendy's Manker
Company Secretary
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Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
Statement of Changes in equity for the vear ended March 31,2022
(All amounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

a. Equity share capital

Particulars Amount
As at April 01, 2020 1.34
Changes in equity share capital during the year 0.01
As at March 31, 2021 1.35
Changes in equity share capital during the year -
As at March 31, 2022 1.35

b. Instruments entirely in the equity nature

Amount
As at April 01,2020 012
Decrease during the year {Converted to equity shares) (0.12)
As at March 31, 2021 2
Increasef{decrease} during the year z
As at March 31, 2022 o
e Other equity
Reserves and Surplus
Capital
ibuti Taotal other
Ronkzahntin Retained Securities Employee 4
by parent . 5 Lquity
earnings premium Stack Option
company
Balance as at April 1, 2020 - (0.08) 14.00 350 B.54
Profit for the year - 19.68 - - 19.68
Other comprehensive loss for the year - (1.15) - - {1.15)
D in cquity F of ible prefi shares - - - - {0.12)
Deemed Contribution by parent company 0.67 - - - 0.67
Premium received on issue of equity shares - - 01z - 0.12
Employ T ion expense for the year - = - 1.85 1.85
Total 0.67 18.53 012 1.85 21.05
Balance as at March 31, 2021 0.67 9.45 14.12 5.35 29.59
Profit for the year - 142.50 - - 142.50
Other comprehensive lass for the year - (0.58) - - {0.58)
Employee compensation expense for the year (Refer note 33) - - - 2.11 211
Deemed Contribution by parent company (Refer note 13) 4.19 4.19
Total 4.19 141.92 - 211 148.22
Balance as at March 31, 2022 4.86 151.37 14.12 7.46 177.81
S y of signi 3¢ ing polici 2
The acc ying notes are an i I part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date
For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Aceountants Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
ICAI firm registration number: 101049W/E300004 CIN - UT4110TG2015PTCO98079
L

Sripad Vaidya Dinesh Kumar

Direetor Director

DIN:- 017092692 DIN:- 07092682
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Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
Notes to financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2022
(All amounts are in thousands of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

Corporate Information

Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited (hereinafter referred as “the Company”) was incorporated on 17
March 2015 as a private limited company in Hyderabad, India. The Company is engaged in the business of running
an online platform named www.confirmtkt.com for providing information and booking services for the travel
industry across airlines, trains, and buses in real-time. The registered office of the Company is located at Plot No:
39&40, Flat 201 2nd Floor, Balaji Nagar Colony, Saroor Nagar Mandal, Hyderabad 500068.

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

1.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared to comply in all material respects with the Indian
Accounting Standards (“Ind AS™) notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) amendment Rules 2016 (as amended from time to time), presentation
requirements of Division II of Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013, (Ind AS compliant Schedule I11), as
applicable to the SFS and other relevant provisions of the Act.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following assets and liabilities

which have been measured at fair value or revalued amount:

e Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (refer accounting policy regarding financial
instruments), and

These financial statements are authorized for issue by the Board of directors on 4" May 2022,

The accounting policies, as set out in the following paragraphs of this note, have been consistently applied, by the
Company, to all the periods presented in the said financial statements.

The preparation of the said financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and
judgements. It also requires the management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies. The areas where estimates are significant to the financial statements, or areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, are disclosed in Note 3.

All financial information presented in Indian Rupees have been rounded off to the nearest millions, unless
otherwise stated, as per requirements of Schedule 111 of the Act.

2.2 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price at the measurement date at which an asset can be sold or paid to transfer a liability, in an
orderly transaction between market participants. The Company’s accounting policies require, measurement of
certain financial/ non-financial assets and liabilities at fair values (either on a recurring or non-recurring basis).
Also, the fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are required to be disclosed in the said
financial statements.

The Company is required to classify the fair valuation method of the financial/ non-financial assets and liabilities,
either measured or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements, using a three-level fair value hierarchy (which
reflects the significance of inputs used in the measurement). Accordingly, the Company uses valuation techniques
that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets

Level 2: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are directly or indirectly observable
Level 3: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are unobservable.
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Notes to financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2022
(All amounts are in thousands of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

2.3 Current versus non-current classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current / non-current classification,
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

An asset is classified as current when it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal
operating cycle, held primarily for the purpose of trading, expected to be realised within twelve months after the
reporting period, or cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for
at least twelve months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current assets.

A liability is classified as current when it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle, it is held primarily
for the purpose of trading, it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or there is no
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. All
other liabilities are classified as non-current liabilities.

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and
cash equivalents. The company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment ('PPE")

An item is recognised as an asset, if and only if; it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. PPE are initially recognised at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment. The initial cost of PPE comprises purchase price
(including non-refundable duties and taxes but excluding any trade discounts and rebates), borrowing costs if
capitalization criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the
intended use. Following initial recognition, PPE are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as separate assets, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with expenditure will flow to the Company and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Company recognises such components separately and depreciates them based on
their specific useful lives. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to Statement of Profit and Loss at the
time of incurrence,

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of PPE are measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when the asset
is derecognized.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated on a written down value method using the rates

arrived at based on the useful lives estimated by the management which are in line with the useful lives
prescribed in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.

The Company has used the following useful lives to provide depreciation on its PPE.

Particulars Years
Computers 3t06
Office equipment 5

Furniture and fixtures 10
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The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of PPE are reviewed, and adjusted appropriately, at-least
as at each reporting date so as to ensure that the method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from these assets. The effects of any change in the estimated useful lives, residual
values and / or depreciation method are accounted prospectively, and accordingly the depreciation is calculated
over the PPE’s remaining revised useful life. The cost and the accumulated depreciation for PPE sold, scrapped,
retired or otherwise disposed off are derecognised from the balance sheet and the resulting gains / (losses) are
included in the statement of profit and loss within other expenses / other income.

2.5 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment, whenever events or changes
In circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable or when annual impairment testing for
an asset is required. Such circumstances include, though are not limited to, significant or sustained decline in
revenues or earnings and material adverse changes in the economic environment.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. To calculate value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market rates and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not
generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. Fair value less costs to sell is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, less the costs of disposal.

2.6 Leases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified assct for a period of time in exchange for consideration,

Where the Company is the lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

A.  Right-of-use assets

The Company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

[f ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section 2.6 Impairment
of non-financial assets.

B.  Lease Liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease term, The lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease
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Notes to financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2022
(All amounts are in thousands of Indian Rupees, unless stated otherwise)

payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilitics is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

C.  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office
equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Where the Company is the lessor

Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

2.7 Borrewing cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the
respective asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also
includes exchange differences to the extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

2.8 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity.

(i) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are added to the fair
value measured on initial recognition of financial asset. Purchase and sale of financial assets are accounted for at
settlement date.

Subsequent measurement

The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortized cost

A financial instrument is measured at the amortized cost if both the following conditions are met:
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a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash
flows, and

b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate (EIR) method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acqulsmon and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in other income
in the statement of profit and loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the statement of profit
and loss. This category includes cash and bank balances, loans, unbilled revenue, trade and other receivables.

Financial assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (‘FVTOCI’)

A financial instrument is classified and measured at fair value through OCI if both of the following criteria are
met:

a) The objective of the business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and sellin g the
financial assets, and

b) The asset’s contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest.

Financial instruments included within the OCI category are measured initially as well as at each reporting date at
fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in OCI. On derecognition of the asset, cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from OCI to statement of profit and loss.

Financial assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss (‘FVTPL’)

Any financial instrument, which does not meet the criteria for categorization at amortized cost or at fair valuc
through other comprehensive income, is classified at fair value through profit and loss. Financial instruments
included in the fair value through profit and loss category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized
in the statement of profit and loss.

Equity investments

All equity investments in scope of Ind AS 109 are measured at fair value. Equity instruments which are held for
trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Company may make an irrevocable election
to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value. The Company makes such clection
on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable.

If the Company decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes on the
instrument, excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCL There is no recycling of the amounts from OCI to

P&L, even on sale of investment.

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in
the statement of profit & loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset.

Impairment of financial assets
The Company recognizes loss allowances using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for the financial assets which

are not fair valued through profit and loss. Lifetime ECL allowance is recognized for trade receivables with no
significant financing component. For all other financial assets, expected credit losses are measured at an amount
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equal to the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk from initial recognition in
which case they are measured at lifetime ECL. The amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required
to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date is recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

The Company follows simplified approach for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trade receivables. The
application of simplified approach does not require the company to track changes in credit risk. Rather, it
recognizes impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date, right from its initial
recognition.

ii) Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. The Company’s financial liabilities include trade
payables and other payables.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when the liabilities
are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the statement of profit and
loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance
costs in the statement of profit and loss.

This category generally applies to borrowings.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. L

2.9 Revenue from contract with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects 1o be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.
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Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Company and
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable,
taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty.

The Company assesses its revenue arrangement against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as
principal or agent. The Company has concluded that it is acting as agent in case of sale of Airline tickets, Train
tickets and Bus tickets as the supplier is primarily responsible for providing the underlying travel services and the
Company does not control the service provided by the supplier to the traveller. Traveller is also referred as end
user.

Income from services
A. Ticketing revenue
Convenience fees from reservation of rail tickets, airlines tickets and bus tickets is recognized on earned basis, as

the Company does not assume any performance obligation post the confirmation of the issuance of the ticket to
the customer.

Commission income earned from air ticketing and bus ticketing services is recognized on a net basis as an agent
on the date of completion of performance obligation by the Company which is date of issuance of ticket in case of
sale of airline/bus tickets.

Revenue from free cancellations option given to the traveler is recognized on actual cancellations. Amounts paid
to the traveler as benefit are included under customer refunds in other expenses.

The Company has measured the revenue in respect of its performance obligation of a contract at its standalone
selling price. The price that is regularly charged for an item when sold separately is the best evidence of its
standalone selling price.

The specific recognition criteria described below is also considered before revenue is recognised.

Cost incurred on ticketing revenue from third party is recorded as distribution cost.

B. API services

The Company has entered contracts with on-line platform companies, where, the Company provides back-end
support with regard to real-time updates on travel information. These contracts are short-term contracts and the
revenue is recognised, as and when, the services are provided by the Company as per the terms and conditions
stipulated in the agreements entered.

C. Adveriisement Services

The revenue from the advertising services rendered is recognized when the services have been rendered, the price
is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured,

Advertisement Referral - Revenue is derived primarily from click-through fees charged to travel partners for
traveller leads sent to the travel partner’s website. In certain contracts revenue is recognized on actual bookings
made on travel partner’s website by the traveller for leads referred by the Company.

Advertisement Revenue-Display advertising revenue is recognized rateably over the advertising period or upon
delivery of advertising impressions, depending on the terms of the advertising contract,

D. Income from facilitation
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Revenue eamned for facilitating website access to travel insurance companies are being recognized as the services
are being performed

Income from technical support fee is recognized on accrual basis as services are rendered as per the terms specified
in the service contracts,

Revenue is recognized net of allowances for cancellations, refunds during the period and taxes.

Interest Income

For all debt instruments measured at amortized cost, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate
(EIR). Other interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding
and the interest rate applicable.

Contract balances

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Company performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or
before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.

Trade Receivables

A receivable represents the Company’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the
passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to accounting policies of financial
assets in section (2.9) Financial instruments.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Company has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before
the Company transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is
made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Company
performs under the contract.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation 1o refund some or all of the consideration received from the
customer. The Company’s refund liabilities arise from customers’ right of return. The Company updates its
estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting
period.

2.10 Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees which is the functional and presentational currency of the
Company.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the relevant functional currency at the rates prevailing
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency at the closing exchange rate prevailing as at the reporting date with the resulting foreign
exchange differences, on subsequent restatement/ settlement, recognized in the statement of profit and loss within
other expenses/ other income.

2.11 Income taxes
The income tax expense comprises of current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognised in the statement
of profit and loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the other comprehensive income or

directly in equity, in which case the related income tax is also recognised accordingly.

a. Current tax
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The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rates, laws and regulations, which have been enacted or
substantively enacted as at the reporting date. The payment made in excess / (shortfall) of the Company’s
income tax obligation for the period are recognised in the balance sheet as current income tax assets /
liabilities. Any interest, related to accrued liabilities for potential tax assessments are not included in Income
tax charge or (credit), but are rather recognised within finance costs.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are off-set against each other and the resultant net amount is presented
in the balance sheet, if and only when, (a) the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off
the current income tax assets and liabilities, and (b) when it relates to income tax levied by the same taxation
authority and where there is an intention to settle the current income tax balances on net basis.

The Company periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

b. Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates thal are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

2.12 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the period attributable to equity
shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period. The weighted average
number of equity shares outstanding during the period is adjusted for events such as bonus issue, bonus element in
a rights issue, share split, and reverse share split (consolidation of shares) that have changed the number of equity
shares outstanding, without a corresponding change in resources.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity
shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted for the effects
of all dilutive potential equity shares.

2.13 Provisions

A provision is recognized when the Company has a present obligation as a result of past event, it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not discounted to their present value if the
effect of time value of money is not material and are determined based on the best estimate required to settle the
obligation at the reporting date. These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimates.
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Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract,
the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The
expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of profit and loss net of any reimbursement.

2.14 Contingent liabilities

A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present abligation that may,
but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation or a present obligation
in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is made. The
Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in financial statements.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less (that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and cash equivalents and subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value) and funds in transit. However, for the purpose of the statement of cash flows,
in addition to above items, any bank overdrafis / cash credits that are integral part of the Company’s cash
management, are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

2.16 Segment reporting policies

Identification of segments — Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). Only those business activities are identified as operating
segment for which the operating results are regularly reviewed by the CODM to make decisions about resource
allocation and performance measurement. For details Refer Note 31

2.17 Employee benefits (Retirement & Other Employee benefits)

Retirement benefit in the form of Provident Fund is a defined contribution scheme and the Company has no
obligation, other than the contribution payable to the provident fund. The Company recognizes contribution
payable to the provident fund scheme as an expenditure, when an employce renders the related service. If the
contribution payable to the scheme for service received before the balance sheet date exceeds the contribution
already paid, the deficit payable to the scheme is recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already
paid.

The Company operates defined benefit plan for its employees, viz., gratuity. The costs of providing benefits under
the plan are determined on the basis of actuarial valuation at each year-end. Actuarial valuation is carried out for
using the projected unit credit method. In accordance with the local laws and regulations, all the employees in
India are entitled for the Gratuity plan. The said plan requires a lump-sum payment to eligible employees (meeting
the required vesting service condition) at retirement or termination of employment, based on a pre-defined formula.
The obligation towards the said benefits is recognised in the balance sheet, at the present value of the defined
benefit obligations less the fair value of plan assets (being the funded portion). The present value of the said
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows, using interest rates of government
bonds. The interest income / (expense) are calculated by applying the above-mentioned discount rate to the plan
asscts and defined benefit obligations liability. The net interest income / (expense) on the net defined benefit
liability is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. However, the related re-measurements of the net defined
benefit liability are recognised directly in the other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. The
said re-measurements comprise of actuarial gains and losses (arising from experience adjustments and changes in
actuarial assumptions), the return on plan assets (excluding interest). Re-measurements are not re-classified to the
statement of profit and loss in any of the subsequent periods.
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Accumulated leave, which is expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as short-term employee
benefit. The Company measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that it expects to pay
as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date,

The Company treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward beyond twelve months, as long-term
employee benefit for measurement purposes. Such long-term compensated absences are provided for based on the
actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method at the year-end. Actuarial gains/losses are immediately
taken to the statement of profit and loss and are not deferred.

The Company presents the leave as a current liability in the balance sheet, to the extent it does not have an
unconditional right to defer its settlement for 12 months after the reporting date. Where Company has the
unconditional legal and contractual right to defer the settlement for a period beyond 12 months, the same is
presented as non-current liability.

2.18 Share-based payments

Employees (including senior exccutives) of the company receive remuneration in the form of share based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled
transactions).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an
appropriate valuation model. Further details are given in Note 33.

That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in share-based payment (SBP) reserves in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee benefits expense. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the statement of profit and loss for a period represents
the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognised in
employee benefits expense.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Company’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service
conditions have not been met. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated
as vested irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the grant date fair
value of the unmodified award, provided the original vesting terms of the award are met. An additional expense,
measured as at the date of modification, is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee. Where an award is cancelled by the
entity or by the counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of the award is expensed immediately through
profit or loss.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted
earnings per share.
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3. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The estimates used in the preparation of the said financial statements are continuously evaluated by the Company
and are based on historical experience and various other assumptions and factors (including expectations of future
cvents), that the Company believes to be reasonable under the existing circumstances. The said estimates are based
on the facts and events, that existed as at the reporting date, or that occurred after that date but provide additional
evidence about conditions existing as at the reporting date. Although the Company regularly assesses these
estimates, actual results could differ materially from these estimates - even if the assumptions underlying such
estimates were reasonable when made, if these results differ from historical experience or other assumptions do
not furn out to be substantially accurate. The changes in estimates are recognized in the financial statements in the
period in which they become known.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

a. Allowance for uncollectible trade receivables and advances (Refer Note 8)

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts. Estimated irrecoverable amounts are based on the ageing of the
receivable balances and historical experience. Additionally, a large number of minor receivables is grouped into
homogeneous groups and assessed for impairment collectively. Individual trade receivables are written off when
management deems them not to be collectible are provided in note 8

b. Defined benefit plans

The costs of postretirement benefit obligation under the Gratuity plan are determined using actuarial valuations,
An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future.
These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increase, mortality rates and future pension
increases. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long term nature, a defined benefit obligation
is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. For details,
refer to note 28.

c. Contingencies

The management judgement of contingencies is based on the internal assessments and opinion from the consultants
for possible outflow of resources, if any.

3.1 Standard/ Amendments Issued

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) vide Notification dated June 18, 2021 notified the new Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2021. The notification has made amendments to various Ind
AS. Some of the Key amendments are:

(i) Ind AS-116 Leases

The practical expedient relating to rent concessions arising as a result of COVID-19 allowed lessees to
not consider COVID-19 related rent concessions to be lease modification provided the lease payments
were originally due on or before 30 June 2021. The relief provided by the practical expedient has now
been extended and is applicable for all lease payments originally due on or before June 30, 2022. The said
amendment is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. The impact of
this amendment has no impact on the financial statements of the company.
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

89

(vi)

Ind AS -103 Business combination

The amendment states that to qualify for recognition as part of applying the acquisition method, the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of assets and liabilities in
the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements in accordance with Indian
Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India at the acquisition date.
Therefore, the acquirer does not recognise those costs as part of applying the acquisition method. Instead,
the acquirer recognises those costs in its post-combination financial statements in accordance with other
Ind AS. These amendments have no impact on the financial statements of the company.

Amendment to ITnd AS -105, Ind -AS 16 and Ind-AS 28

The definition of “Recoverable amount™ is amended such that the words “the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use” are replaced with “higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use”. The consequential amendments are made in Ind AS 105, Ind AS 16 and
Ind AS 28. This amendment has no impact on the financial statements of the company.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

This amendment relates to 'Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (Amendments to Ind AS 104,
Ind AS 107, Ind AS 109 and Ind AS 116)' which addresses issues that might affect financial reporting
after the reform of an interest rate benchmark, including its replacement with alternative benchmark
rates. Some of the key amendments arising from the interest rate benchmark are:

a. Ind AS 109: New guidance has been included on changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cashflows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform. An entity should apply the
amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after | April 2021.

b. 1Ind AS 107: Additional disclosures related to nature and extent of risks to which the entity is
exposed arising from financial instruments subject to interest rate benchmark reform and how the
entity manages these risks.

c. An entity should apply the amendments when it applies amendments to Ind AS 109, Ind AS 104
or Ind AS 116. The adoption of the amendments did not have any material impact on its financial
statements

Amendments to Ind AS Consequential to Conceptual Framework under Ind AS

The amendments relating to Ind AS 102, Share-based Payment; Ind AS 103, Business Combinations;
Ind AS 106, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources; Ind AS 114, Regulatory Deferral
Accounts; Ind AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements; Ind AS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors; Ind AS 34, Interim Financial Reporting; Ind AS 37, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; Ind AS 38, Intangible Assets, are consequential due to
changes in the Conceptual Framework under Ind AS, made in August 2020, The revised Conceptual
Framework introduced some new concepts and clarifications along with revision in definitions and
changes in recognition criteria of assets and liabilities under Ind AS. The company does not expect the
consequential amendments to have any significant impact in its Ind AS Financial Statements.

The company has considered the amendments to Schedule L1I of the Companies Act 2013 notified by
Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) via notification dated 24 March 2021 in the restated Ind AS
Summary Statements disclosures, wherever applicable.

3.2 Standard issued but not yet effective

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified the following amendments to Ind AS which are effective from April
01, 2022. Amendments applicable to the Company:

a4
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(i)

(ii)

Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract — Amendments to Ind AS 37

The amendments to Ind AS 37 specify which costs an entity needs to include when assessing whether a
contract is onerous or loss-making. The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”. The costs
that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services include both incremental costs and an
allocation of costs directly related to contract activities. General and administrative costs do not relate
directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the
contract.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022. The
Company is currently assessing the impact of the amendments to determine the impact they will have on
the Company’s accounting policy disclosures.

Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to Ind AS 103

The amendments replaced the reference to the ICAI’s “Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements under Indian Accounting Standards™ with the reference to the “Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting under Indian Accounting Standard™ without significantly changing
its requirements.

The amendments also added an exception to the recognition principle of Ind AS 103 Business
Combinations to avoid the issue of potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of Ind AS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets or Appendix C to Ind AS 37 Levies, if incurred separately.

It has also been clarified that the existing guidance in Ind AS 103 for contingent assets would not be
affected by replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements under Indian Accounting Standards.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022. The
amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company.

(iii) Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use — Amendments to Ind AS 16

The amendments modified paragraph 17(e) of Ind AS 16 to clarify that excess of net sale proceeds of
items produced over the cost of testing, if any, shall not be recognised in the profit or loss but deducted
from the directly attributable costs considered as part of cost of an item of property, plant, and equipment.
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022. The
amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company.

Statement of profit and loss:

e  Additional disclosures relating to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR), undisclosed income and crypto or
virtual currency specified under the head 'additional information' in the notes forming part of standalone financial

statements.

The Company will evaluate the same to give effect to them as required by law

C
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4 Property, plant and equipment

Cost

Asat April 01, 2020
Additions/Adjustments
Disposals

As at March 31, 2021
Additions/Adjustments
Disposals

As at March 31, 2022

Accumulated Depreciation and impairment
As at April 01, 2020

Depreciation charge for the year

On disposals during the year

As at March 31, 2021

Depreciation charge for the year

On disposals during the vear

As at March 31, 2022

Net carrying value

As at March 31, 2022
As at March 31, 2021

Computers Office equipments  Furniture and Tatal
fixtures
0.12 0.22 0.21 0.55
0.11 0.01 - 0.12
{0.01) (0.01) (0.07) (0.09)
0.22 0.22 .14 0.58
- 0.12 - 0.12
- (0.09) (0.0%)
0.22 0.34 005 0.61
006 0.09 .06 0.21
0.09 0.06 006 0.21
(0.01) (0.01) (0.06) (0.08)
0.14 0.14 0.06 0.34
0.04 0.06 0.01 0.l
- - (0.04) (0.04)
0.18 0.20 0.03 0.42
0.04 0.14 0.02 0.19
0.08 0.08 0.08 0.23

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
(All amounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)
As at As at

5 Other Financial Assets March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

A. Non-current
Unsecured - considered good

Security deposits 2.00 2.00
Total (A) 2.00 2.00
B. Current

Unsecured - considered good

Security deposits 1.44 0.80
Interest accrued on term deposits 0.18 0.46
Other Receivables 20.90 4.41
Total (B) 22.52 5.67
Total (A+B) 24.52 7.67
Total current 22.52 5.67
Total non- current 2.00 2.00

6 Other non-current asset As at As at

Marech 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Prepaid expenses 3.54 6.54

3.54 6.54

7 Non Current tax asset (Net) As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Non Current tax asset (Net) 5.85 3.01

5.85 3.01

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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Trade receivables
Asat As at
March 31. 2022 March 31, 2021

Receivable from related parties 431 -
Trade reeeivables (ret of allowance) 3.64 2.71
Total 7.95 2.71

Break-up for security details ;
As at As at

March 31,2022 March 31, 2021
Trade reccivables

Considered good - unsceured 795 27
Trade Receivables which have significant increase in credit risk 092 0.87
Trade reveivables - credit impaired - -
Total (A) 8.87 358
Impairment allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful debits)

Trade Receivables which have significant increase in eredit Risk (0.92) (D.8T)
Trade Receivables - credit impaired = 5
Total (B) (0.92) (0.8T)
Total Trade receivables ( C=A-B ) 7.95 2.71

Set out below is the movermnent in the allowance for expected credit loss of trade receivables

Amount
As at April 1, 2020 0.72
Provision for expected credit loss 0.15
Reversal of provision e
As at March 31, 2021 " 0.87
Provision for expected credit loss 0.54
Reversal of provision 50_49!
Asat Mareh 31, 2022 S
As al March 31, 2022
Particalars Outstanding for following vears from due date of payments
Unhiled Mokgue Less than 6 6 months - 1 More than 3
dues 1-2 years | 2-3 years Total
months year Years
- Undisputed Trade reccivables — considered good LiAN 4.84 3.00 - - - - 795
- Undisputed Trade Receivables — which have significant - - - 0.61 0.09 022 - 0.92
increase in credit risk
- Undisputed Trade Receivables — credit impaired - - C 3 - - = 5
- Disputed Trade Receivables— considered good - - - - - - - -
- Disputed Trade Receivables — which have significant increase] - - - - - - - -
in credit nisk
- Disputed Trade Receivables — eredit impaired - - 4 = - - = =
Total 011 4.84 3.00 0.61 0.09 0.22 - HAT
As at March 31, 2021
Particulars Qutstanding lor following vears from due date of payments
Unbiiled Nitdas Less than 6 6 months - 1 12 years | avears Mere than 3 Total
dues months vear Years
- Undisputed Trade receivables — considered good 0.58 0.57 1.56) - - - - mn
- Undisputed Trade Receivables — which have significant - - B 0.63 024 | 0.87
increase in credit risk ’
- Undisputed Trade Receivables - credit impaired = - - - 5 - - -
- Disputed Trade Receivables— considered good - - - = - - - B
= Disputed Trade Reecivables — which have significant increase - - ~ =
in credit risk == - = =
- Disputed Trade Receivables — credit impaired - - - - - - - -
Total 14 0.57 1.56 0.63 0.24 - - 3.58
Notes:

{i) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 0 1o 45 days.

(ii) No trade or other receivable are due from directors or other officers of the Company either severally or jointly with any other person. Nor any trade or ather receivable are due from firms or
private companies respectively in which any director is a parmer, a director or a member,

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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9

10

Cash and cash cquivalents

Details of cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

Funds in transit*
Balances with banks:
- on current accounts

Total

As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
50.11 22.89
4.69 40.89
54.80 63.78

*Funds in transit represents the amount collected from customers through cards/ net banking/ UPI payment which is outstanding at year/ year end and

credited to Company's bank account subsequent o year/ year end.

**Cash at banks eams interest based on bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying years of between 7 days and three months, depending on

the immediate cash requirements of the company, and eam interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents

Bank deposits with original maturity of less than three months®
Bank deposits with original maturity of more than three months but less than twelve months®

Total

*These deposits includes lien marked bank deposits of INR 73.15 (March 31, 2021: INR 15.34)

Other current assets

Unsccured-considered good
Prepaid expenses

Advance to suppliers

Balance with government authorities

Total

As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
58.34 -
15.66 15.34
74.00 1534
As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
68.28 11.86
108.51 43,19
9.42 0.08
186.21 55.13

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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12 Authorised share capital
As at As at
Murch 31,2022 March 31, 2021

(a)  Equity Share Capital
170,000 (March 31,2021 : 170,000} Equity shares of INR Rs 10 each 1.70 1.70
1.70 L.70

As at As at

Preference Share Capital March 31,2022  March 31, 2021

Nil (March 31,2021 : Nil) Equity shares of INR Rs 100 cach = =

Terms / rights attached to equity shares

The Company has a single class of equity shares. Accordingly, all equity shares rank equally with regard to dividends and share in the Company's residual assels.
The equily shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time (o time. The dividend proposed. if any, by the Board of Directors is subject 1o approval
of sharcholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in case of interim dividend. The voling rights of an equity shareholder are in proportion to its share
oI‘ the paid-up cqurty capital of the company. On wmdmg up of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive the residual assets of the
ining after distribution of all prefi 1 in proportion to the number of cquity shares held,

Terms / rights attached to preference shares

The Company has a single class of cumulati 1| ibl fi shares. Each cumulative compulsory convertible preference shares has a par
vatlue of INR 100 and is convertible at the option ul‘:hc pml’crmcc \harcholdm into the equity shares on the basis of one equity share for every preference shares
held. Any preference shares not ¢ 1 will be ily converted into cquity sharcs on the bais of onc equity share for the one preference share held on on
| May 2038. The preference shares carry a dividend of 0.01% per annum, The preference shares are entitled 1o received dividends as declared from time to time .
The dividend rights are lative in nature. Prefi shares are emitled to voling rights on an as if converted basis and preference shares shall be treated pari
passu with equity shares on voting matters . The preference shares rank ahead of the equity shares in the event of liquidation.

As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2021
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
(b)  Tssued, subscribed and fully paid-up share capital
Equity shares of INR 10 cach 1,35.297 135 1,34,074 135
Inerease during the year - = 1,223 -
1,35,297 1.35 1,35,297 1.35
*Increase is on account of ;
Conversion of 1185 shares from preference to equity and issue of 38 cquity shares on rights issue basis
Instruments entirely equity in nature:
Equity component of convertible preference shares of INR 100 each issued and folly paid
No. of sharcs Amount
As at April 01, 2019 1,185 012
Increase/{decrease) during the year e =
As at April 1, 2020 1,185 0.12
Increase/(deerease) during the year (Converted to equity shares) (1,185) (0.12)
As at March 31, 2021 - -
Increase/(decrease) during the year - -
As at March 31, 2022 = <
(c) Shares of the C ¥ held by holding ¥
As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31,2021
Number of Amount Number of T
shares shares
Le Travenues Technology Limited, holding company 1,13,218 113 71,351 071
(d)  Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company
As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Numberof % holding inthe  Number of %o holding in
shares class shares the class
Equity shares of INR 10 each fully paid-up held by:
Le Travenues Technology Limited, holdi P 1,13.218 B3.68% 71,351 50.10%
Sripad Vaidya 11,037 B.16% 31,973 22.45%
Dinesh Kumar Kotha 11,038 B.16% 31,973 22.45%
(e} Share issued for other than Cash consideration
Company had not issued shares other than Cash consideration during the current and preceding four years.
() Shares reserved for issue under options
For details of shares reserved for issue under options under the Share Based Payment Plan of the company, refer note 33
{z) Sharcholding of Promoters
The pany is a professionally ged company and doesn't have an identifiable promoter in terms of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital

and Discl qui ) Regulati

2008 and the Companics Act, 2013
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13 Other equity

a)  Retained earnings Amount
As at April 01, 2020 9.08)
Profit for the year 19.68
Other comprehensive loss for the year (1.15)
As at March 31, 2021 9.45
Profit for the year 142.50
Other comprehensive (loss) for the year (0.58)
As at March 31, 2022 151.37

b)  Securities premium

As at April 01, 2020 14.00
Additions during the year on issue of share capital 0.12
As at Mareh 31, 2021 14,12
Additions during the year on issue of share capital -

As at March 31, 2022 14.12

(¢) Employee Stock Option

As at April 01, 2020 3.50
Expense recognized for the year 1.85
As at March 31, 2021 5.35
Expense recognized for the year 2.11
As at March 31, 2022 7.46

(d) Capital contribution by parent company
As at April 01, 2020 =

Contribution by parent company 0.67
As at March 31, 2021 0.67
Deemed Contribution by parent company 4.19
As at March 31, 2022 4.86

Nature and purpose of reserves
(a) Securities premium

Securities premium is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The reserve can be utilised only for limited
purposes such as issuance of bonus shares in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

(b) Employee Stock Option

The share options-based payment reserve is used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to employees
under Employee stock option plan.

(¢) Deemed Capital contribution by parent company
This is used to recognise the charge on account of Employee Stock Option plan of the Parent company.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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14 Income tax

(i)

a)

The major compenents of income tax cxpensedincome) as follows :-

1 tax exp f{income) in the of profit and loss comprises:

Tax Expense:

Current tax

Adjustment of tax relating to carlier years

Deferred tax income:

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences

I tax

flincome) reporied in the statement of profit or loss

Other comprehensive income (OCI) section:
Deferred tax relating to items in OCT in the year:

Net gain on measurement of defined benefit plans

Reconciliation of tax and the

Profit / {loss) before income taxes

At India’s statutory income tax rate of 25.17%
Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes
Adjustment in respeet of current tax of previous year
Others

Income tax expense

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss

Deferred tax relates to the following :

Property, Plant & Equipment: Impact of difference between tax depreciation and
depreciation/ amortization charged for the financial reporting

Provision for doubtful debts

Provision for Gratuity

Provision for Leave

Provision for Special Bonus

Bonus disallowed earlier and allowed in the current year

Deferred tax Assets! Laibility(net)

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset (net):

Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
51.97 4.4]
343 -
(4.57) 3.06
50.83 7.47
For the year ended For the year ended
Mareh 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
(0.20) (0.39)
(0.20) (0.39)

ing profit multiplicd by India’s domestic tax rate for March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021 is:

For the year cnded For the year coded

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

193.33 27.15
48.66 6.83
1.82 0.64

022 -

0.13 =
50.83 7.47
50.83 7.47

Statement of profit and loss Balance Sheet

Opening balance

Tax income/{expense) during the year recognised in profit or loss
Tax income/{expense) during the year recognised in OCI
Closing balance of deferred tax asset (net)

For the year ended  For the year ended As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
0.19 0.23 0.65 0.84
(0.01) (0.04) 0.23 0.22
(0.52) (0.24) 1.7 0.99
(0.57) 5 0.57 -
{0.45) {0.10) 0.57 0.13
3.21) 3.21 - (3.21)
(4.57) 3.06 3.73 (1.03)
As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
(1.03) 1.64
4.57 (3.06)
0.20 0.39
3.7 (1.03)

The Company offsels tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilitics and the deferred fax assets and

deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.
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15

Trade payables
As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 0.82 167

enterprises (refer note below)
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro
enterprises and small enterprises

- Payable to related partics .26 .
(refer note 30)

- Payable to others 55.15 2925
Total 56.23 30.92

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 0-60 day terms. In cases where the due date is neither agreed explicitly, above ageing is T
date.

The amount due to micro, small and medium enterprises as defined in the "The Micro, Small and Medium E ises Devel Act, 2006" ("MSMED") has been determined to the

extent such partics have been identified on the basis of information available with the Company. The du:l:losun.:a refating to the micro, small and medium enterprises are as under.

pared from the tr ion

Particulars ASAT Axat
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

(1)The principal amount and the interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of each accounting year

- Principal amount due to micro and small enterprises .82 1.67
- Interest due on above "

(ii} The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the MSMED Act 2006 along with the amounts of the payment made to - -
the supplier beyond the appointed day during cach accounting year.

(iii) The amount of intcrest due and payable for the year of delay in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day] - -
during the year) but without adding the interest specilicd under the MSMED Act 2006
(iv) The amount of interest accrued and remaininy unpaid at the end of each accounting year. - -

(v) The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues as above are - -
actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance asa deductible expenditure under section 23 of the MSMED Act 2006,

As at March 31, 2022
Particulars Outstanding for following years from due date of payment
Unbilled Due Not Due Less than 1 1-2 Years 2-3 Years | More Than 3 Years Total
Year
- MSME - 0.82 - - - - 0.82
- Others 4.75 5032 0.34 - = - 5541
- Disputed Ducs- MSME - - = - s - =
- Disputed Dues- Other = - = - 2 - £
‘Total 4.75 5114 0.34 = = - 56.23
As at March 31, 2021
Particulars Outstanding for following years from due date of payment
Unbilled Due Not Due Less than 1 1-2 Years 2-3 Years | More Than 3 Years Tatal
Year
- MSME - 1.66 0.01 - - - 1.67
- Others - 16.29 1296 - - - 29.25
- Disputed Dues- MSME = s - . . s .
- Disputed Dues- Other - - - - - - -
‘Total - 17.95 12.97 - - - 30.92

* The above includes ding 1o Medium, Small and Micro enterprises.

Other financial liabilities As at Asat
March 31,2022  March 31, 2021

Current

Employee related payable 356 0.05

Refunds payable to customers® 89.05 61.15

Total 92.61 61.20

*Refund payable includes amount pertaining to concelled tickets to be refunded to end wer.

Contract liabilities As at As at
__March31,2022  March31,2021

Deferred revenue 18.58 18.12

Total 18.58 18,12
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18

a)

19

Provisions
Details of provisions are as follows:
A. Non- current

Provision for employee benefits
Provision for gratuity (Refer note 28)

Total (A)

B. Current

Provision for employee benefits
Provision for gratuity (Refer note 28)
Provision for compensated absences

Total (B)

Total (A+B)

Other liabilities:

Current
Statutory dues payable
Total

(This space has been intentionally lefi blank)

As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

6.40 3.29

6.40 3.29

0.41 0.67

2.26 -

2.67 0.67

9.07 3.96
As at As at

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

5.14 8.24

5.14 8.24
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20
a)

b)

c)

d)

€)

Revenue from operations

Disaggregated revenue information
Set oul below is the disaggregation of the ¢ y's

from contracts with customers:

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Rendering of services
Ticketing revenue 1,250.75 359.84
Advertisement referral 11.05 -
Advertiscment revenue 17.69 5.65
Technical and other support fee 2.56 6.87
Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,282.05 72.36
India 1,276.53 366.71
Outside India 5.52 5.65
Total revenue from contracts with customers 1.282.05 372.36
Timing of revenue recognition
Goods and Services transferred at a point in time 1,282.05 372.36
Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,282.05 37236

Contract balances

As at March 31,2022 As at March 31,2021

As at April 1,2020

Trade reccivables and Contract assets 7.95 271 7.14
Contract liabilitics 18.58 18.12 39.36
Trade receivables are non-i bearing and are gencrally on terms of 0 to 30 days. In March 31, 2022 INR 0.05 (March 31, 2021: INR 0.147) was recognised as

provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables.
Contract assets relates to revenue earned from ticketing, advertisement and other revenue services which are unbilled as the end of the year.
Contract liabilities consists of deferred revenue pertaining to revenue received in advance for free cancellation facility offered to customers.
Reconeiling the amount of revenue recognised in the stat tof profit and loss with the contracted price

For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Gross revenue (revenue as per contracted price as per customer eontracts) 1,282.12 372.36
Adjustments
Less: Discount offered to customers on ticketing Revenue {0.07) -
Revenue from contracts with customers 1,282.05 372.36

Performance oblipations
Information about the Company’s performance obligations are summarised below:

. i TEE
B peT L £

The transaction price allocated to the (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are as follows:

As at March 31,2022

As at March 31,2021

Within one year 18,58 18.12

More than one year - 7
18.58 18.12

Movement of contract liabilities during the vear

Opening Amount 18.12 0.03

Amount recognised during the year 0.46 18.09

Closing Amount 18.58 18.12

Other income
For the year ended

Far the year ended

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Inerest Income :

- On deposits with bank 1.72 1.27
Provison written back 0.41 -
Miscellaneous income 1.59 0.12
Total 3.72 1.39
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22

23

24

Employee benefits expense
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Salaries, wages and bonus 65.60 38.29
Contribution to provident and other funds (Refer note 28) 0.40 0.33
Gratuity expenses (Refer note 28) 2.06 0.96
Employee stock option scheme (Refer note 33) 6.30 251
Staff welfare 0.55 0.22
Total 74.91 42.31

The Code on Social Security, 2020 (‘Code’) relating to employee benefits during employment and post employment benefits received
Presidential assent in September 2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette of India. However, the date on which the Code will
come into effect has not been notified and the final rules/interpretation have not yet been issued. The Company will assess the impact of the
Code when it comes into effect and will record any related impact in the year the Code becomes effective. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the entity believes the impact of the change will not be significant.

For the year ended For the year ended

Depreciation and amortization expense March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (Refer note 4) 0.11 0.21
Total 0.11 0.21
Finance costs

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Interest on borrowings 0.74 0.12
Total 0.74 0.12

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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25 Other expenses

a)

b)

Electricity charges

Rent (short term lease payments)

Rates and taxes

Insurance expenses

Advertising and sales promotion

Travelling and conveyance

Communication costs

Legal and professional expenses (Refer note a)
Outsourcing cost

Impairment allowance of trade receivables (Refer note 8)
License fees

Loss on forcign exchange (net)

Partner support cost

Printing & Stationery

Loss on Sale of Asset

Technology and related cost

Customer refunds / cancellation costs
Payment gateway charges

Intangibles written off

Directors Sitting Fees

Miscellaneous expenses
Total

Details of payment made to auditors are as follows:

As auditor:
Audit fee

Others
Total

Corporate Social Responsibility

For the year

For the year

ended March ended March
31, 2022 31,2021
0.03 0.11
2.84 1.34
0.49 0.36
1.32 0.43
239.63 62.06
0.35 0.35
0.42 0.33
3.85 9.63
20,22 7.75
0.05 0.15
5.06 3.85
0.13 0.04
355.49 91.81
0.01 0.04
15.45 7.88
307.55 92.69
62.78 24.14
- 0.59
0.30 -
0.71 0.41
1,016.68 303.96
For the year For the year
ended March ended March
31, 2022 31,2021
0.90 .68
0.10 0.08
1.00 U.70

The Company has not earned average net profit in three immediately preceding financial years, therefore, there was no amount as per section
135 of the Act which was required to be spent on CSR activities in each of the respective financial years by the Company.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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26

27

Components of other comprehensive income (OCI)

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Re-measurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans (0.78) (1.53)
Income tax effect 0.20 0.39
Comprehensive loss for the year (0.58) (1.14)

Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year/year attributable to eqguity holders by the weighted average number of equity shares
outstanding during the year/year.

Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders (after adjusting for interest on the convertible preference shares,
if any} by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year/year plus the weighted average number of equity shares that would
be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential equity shares into equity shares.

The following reflects the profit and share capital data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

Weighted average number of Equity shares for Basic For the year ended  For the year ended
earning per share (BEPS)/ Diluted earning per share March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
{DEPS)

Number of equity shares at the beginning of the year 1,35,297.00 1,34,112.00
Convertible preference shares (1,185 CCPS converted in equity shares on December 31, 2020) - 1,185.00
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the year 1,35,297.00 1,35,297.00
Effect of Dilution :

Share options 2,270.00 6.110.00
Weighted average number of equity shares adjusted for the effect of dilution outstanding at the 1,37,567.00 1,41,407.00

end of the year

For the year ended  For the year ended

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for basic earnings 142.50 19.68
Basic eamnings per share 1,053.24 145.46
Diluted earnings per share 1,035.86 139.17

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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28 Employment benefit plan

(a) Defined contribution plans

(b

—

The Company has a defined contribution plan. Contributions are determined as a specific percentage of employee salaries in respect of qualifying employees
towards provident fund & Employer State Insurance. The contributions are made to registered provident fund administered by the government. The obligation
of the Company is limited to the amount contributed and it has no further contractual nor any constructive obligation, The expense recognised during the year
towards defined contribution plan is INR 0.39 (March 31,2021: INR 0.33).

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Contribution lo provident fund 0.39 033
Contribution to Employee State Insurance 0.01 i
Total 0.40 0.33

Defined benefit plan: Gratuity scheme

The gratuity plan is governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Under the Act, employees who have completed five years of service are entitled to
specific benefit. The level of benefit provided depends on the member's length of service and salary retirement age. The employee is entitled to a benefit
equivalent to 15 days salary last drawn for each completed year of service with part thereof in excess of six months subject to maximum limit of INR 20 lakhs,
The same is payable on termination of service or retirement or death whichever is carlicr.

The present value of the obligation under such defined benefit plan is determined based on an actuarial valuation as at the reporting date using the projected
unit credit method, which recognises each year of service as giving rise to additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to
build up the final obligation. The obligations arc measurcd at the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The discount rate used for determining the
present value of the obligation under defined benefit plans is based on the market yields on Government bonds as at the date of actuarial valuation. Actuarial
pains and losses (net of tax) are recognised immediately in the Other Comprehensive Income (OCl).

This is an unfunded benefit plan for qualifying employees. The scheme provides for a lump sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death while in
employment or on termination of employment. Vesting occurs upon completion of five years of service.

The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the statement of profit or loss and amounts recognised in the balance
sheet for the respective plans:

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are, as follows:
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the vear 3.96 1.47
Interest cost 0.25 0.09
Current service cost 1.81 0.87
Actuarial loss/(gain} on cbligation

-financial assumptions (0.67) 0.03
-demographic assumptions 1.09 -
-experience adjustment 0.37 1.50
Benefits paid - -
Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 6.81 3.96

For the year ended For the year ended

Classification into current/non-current March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Current liability 0.41 0.67
Non-current liability 6.40 3.29
Total liability 6.81 3.96

Net benefit expense (recognised in profit or loss)
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31,2022 March 31, 2021
Current service cost 0.25 0.09
Interest cost on benefit obligation ' 1.81 0.87
MNet benefit expense 2.06 0.96
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Expenses recognised in Statement of other comprehensive income

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Actuarial loss/(gain) on obligation

Change in financial assumptions (0.67) 0.03

Change in demographic assumptions 1.09 -

Experience variance 0.37 1.50
0.79 1.53

The principal actuarial assumptions used for estimating the Company's defined benefit obligations are set out below:

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Discount ratc 7.20% 6.20%
Future salary increase 15.00% 15.00%
Average expected future working life (Years) 29.56 31.09
Retirement age (Years) 60.00 60.00
Mortality rates inclusive of provision for disability* TALM 2012-14 ult.  IALM 2012-14 ult.
Withdrawal rate (%)

Upto 30 years 10.00% 25.00%
From 31 to 44 years 10.00% 25.00%
Above 44 years 10.00% 25.00%

*Indian Assured Lives Mortality (2012-14) Ultimate represents published mortality table used for mortality assumption.

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions is shown below:

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Discount rate

Impact due to increase of 1% (0.58) (0.16)
Impact due to decrease of 1% 0.67 0.17
Future salary increases

Impact due to increase of 1% 0.29 0.10
Impact due to decrease of 1% (0.29) {0.11)

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on the defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable
changes in key ptions occurring at the end of the reporting year/ycar. These analysis are based on a change in a significant assumption, keeping all other
assumptions constant and may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions would

occur in isolation of one another.

The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years:

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Year | 0.42 0.69
Year 2 .46 0.67
Year 3 0.56 0.60
Year 4 0.60 0.58
Year 5 0.65 0.51
Year 6 onwards 13.17 2.26

15.86 5.31

The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting year is 15 years (March 31, 2021: 6 years),
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29 Leases
As a lessee

The Company has lease contracts for office premises, parking spaces and other operating assets having term of 11 months for which The company applies the *short-
term lease’ recognition exemptions for the lease.

The Following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
___March 31,2022 March 31, 2021
Expense relating to Short -tenn leases (included in other expenses) 2.84 1.34
2.84 1

(Thix space has been intentionally left blank)
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30 Relaled party transactions

(a) List of related parties and related party relationships

Haolding Company
Le Travenues Technology Limited (w.e.f 17.02.2021)

Fellow subsidiary
Travemues Innovations Private Limited (w.e.f 17.02,2021)
Ixigo Europe, S.L (w.e.f28.07.2021)

Key managerial personnel (KMP)

Sripad Vaidya - Dircclor

Dinesh Kumar Kotha - Director

Rajendra Mankar- Company Secretary

Pravin Kumar Agarwala - Director (1l 27-01-2021)

Individuals having significant influence
Sripad Vaidya
Dinesh Kumar Kotha

(b} Transactions with related parties carried out in the ordinary course of business

Particulars For the year ended  For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Advertisement referral

Le Travenues Technology Limited 12.78 =
Advertisment revenue
Le Travenues Technology Limited 6.74 -

Technical Support Fees
Le Travenues Technology Limited .86 -

Advertisement expenses
Le Travenues Technology Limited 0.99 -

Deemed Contribution by parent company
Le Travenues Technology Limited 419 0.67
() Details of outstanding balances of related partics

Particulars As on March 31, As on March 31,
2022 021

Salary Payable
Dinesh Kumar = -

Sripad Vaidya - 005
Payable 1o Le Travenues Technology Limited 0.26 -
Receivable from Le Travenues Technology Limited 4.46 -
Capital ibution by parent P 4.19 0.67
{¢} Comp ion of key p 1 of the C
For the year ended  For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Short-term employee benefits
Sripad Vaidya - Director 7.20 3%
Dinesh Kumar Kotha - Dircetor 7.20 3.94
Rajendra Mankar- Company Scerclary 0.54 -
Others - 3.00
Total compensation paid to key management personmel™® 14.94 10.8%

*In addition to above, the Directores were paid Bonus amounting to nil (March 31 2021 INR 9.62) during the vear ended.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting year related to key munagement personnel,
The ion to the key 5 P I does not include the provision made for gratuity & compensated absences, as they are
determined on an scturial basis for the Company as a whole,

31 Scgment Information

The Managing Director and COO (MD & COO) reviews internal management reports for The Company. A dingly, the Managing Dircctor
and COO (ML & COO) is considered to be the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). The CODM asseses performance and allocates
resources at entity level, Accordingly, the Company's's business activity is a single scgment operation.

Geographical information

The Group operates in India and therefore caters to the needs of the domestic market. Therefore, there is only one geogruphical segment and
hence, g hical segs inft ton is not required to be di
The Company provides services to customers in India, Further, there are no non-current assets located outside India,

Information about major customers

Considering the nature of busi C ly include individuals and business enterprises. Further, nene of the corporate and other
customers account for more than 10% or more of the Company’s revenues




Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
(All amounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

32 Capital Management

For the purpose of Company’s capital management, capital includes issued cquity capital, convertible preference shares, securitics premium and all
other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the Company. The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to maximise the
sharcholder value.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in cconomic conditions and the requirements of the
financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
sharcholders or issuc new shares. The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt, The
Company includes within net debt, interest bearing borrowings, trade and other payables less cash and cash equivalents.

As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Borrewings - 8.79
Trade payables 56.23 30.92
Other Financial liabilities 92.61 61.20
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (54.80) (63.78)
Less: Other bank balances (74.00) (15.34)
Net debt 20.04 21.79
Equity share capital 1.35 1.35
Other equity 177.81 29.60
Total Capital 179.16 3095
Capital and net debt 199.20 52,74
Gearing ratio 10.06% 41.32%

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants
attached to the interest-bearing borrowings that define capital structure requirements.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended March 31, 2022 and year ended March 31,
2021.

(This space has been intentionally lefi blank)
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Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
{All amounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

34 Fair value hierarchy
All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hi hy, described as follows, bascd on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

Level 1: This level of hierarchy includes financial assets that are measured by reference to quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilitics.

Level 2: This level of hicrarchy includes financial assets that are measured using inputs, other than quoted prices inchuded within Jevel 1. that are observable for such items, directly or
indirectly.

Level 3: This level of hi hy includes items 1 using a valuation model based on assumptions that are neither supported by prices from observable current market transactions
in the same instruments nor based on available market data.

The Company's financials assets namely Loans, Trade receivables, Cash and cash equivalents, Other bank balances Other financial assets and financial liabilities namely borrowings and
Trade payable are measured at amortised cost . The carrying amounts of these aee approximates the fair values due to their short term nature.

Fair value measurement hierarchy for asscts as at March 31, 2022:

Fair value ement using
Total Quofed prices in active  Significant observable Ihf:g:’:;:'fl b
markets (Level I) inputs (Level 2) i {Le:tl 3;“]1“
Financial asscts measured at amortized cost
Other financial asscts 22,52 - - 22.52
Financial liabilitics measuored at amortized cost
Other financial liabilitics 92.61 - - 92.61
There are no transfer between levels during the year ended March 31, 2022
Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at March 31, 2021
Fair value measurement using
7 . . Significant
Taotal Qn::::k]::‘;:;;ﬁ;[“ S]g:ﬁ;u:‘:::::lr;;b]e unobservable inputs
3 (Level 3)
Financial assets measured at amortized cost
Other financial assets 5.67 - - 5.67
Fi ial liahilities ed at amortized cost
Other financial liabilitics 61.20 - - 61.20
There are no transfer between levels during the year ended March 31, 2021,
The earrying of trade ivables, cash and cash equival B ings , Trade payables, other fi ial liahilitics approximates the fair values due to their

short term nature.

{This space has been intentionally left blank)
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35

Fair value measurements

Sct out below, is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Company’s financial instruments, including
those with carrying amounts that are reasonable approximations of fair values:

Carrying values Fair values

As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Financial assets
Other financial assets 22.52 5.67 22.52 5.67
Total 22,52 5.67 22.52 5.67

Carrying values Fair values

As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities 92.61 61.20 92.61 61.20
Total 92.61 61.20 92.61 61.20

Management has assessed that trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, trade payables and borrowings
approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

Discount rate used in determing fair value

The interest rate used to discount estimated future cash flows, where applicable, are based on the incremental borrowing rate of
borrower which in case of financial liabilites is average market cost of borrowings of the Company and in case of financial asset is
the average market rate of similar credit rated instrument. The Company maintains policies and procedures to value financial assets or
financial liabilitics using the best and most relevant data available.

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of the Company’s advances are determined by using discount rate that reflects the incremental borrowing rate as at the
end of the reporting year,

(This space has been intentionally left blank)

3 =
'

b 2  J
Lis | HY _;_m/




Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
Notes to financial statements for the vear ended March 31, 2022
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36

(@)

0]

(ii)

by

(e

(d}

Fi jal risk " hjectives and palici
The Company's principal fi ial habilitics prisc bo ings, trade and other payables. The main purposc of these financial liabilitics is o finance the
Company’s operati The Company’s principal financial assets include loans, trade reeeivables, and cash and cash equivalents that derive directly from its
operations.

The Company is exposed to credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s senior management oversces the management of these risks. The Company's senior

management is &uppmmi by a fin.:nclal risk committee that adviscs on financial risks and the appropriate fi ial nsk g fi k for the Comy
The f'nanuul risk to the Company's senior 1o that the Company's financial risk activities are g | by appropri
and procedures and II\at ial risks arc identificd, | and ged in accord: with the Companys policics and risk objectives. The Board

nf Dircetors reviews and agrees policies lor managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a f'nam.l.:l loss, The Compuny
is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables), ineluding deposits with banks and fi ial i foreign exch
transactions and other financial instruments,

Trade receivables and contract assets

Trade receivables are typically unsecured. Credit risk is ged by the © hrough credit I blishing credit limits and continuously

monitoring the creditworthiness of customers to which the Company grants credit terms in the normal course of business.

The ageing analysis of trade reccivables as of the reporting dale is as follows:

Frrieaiac Unbilled Not Due 0t 60 days 61 ta 90 days 91 to 180 days “l';;;" d'r: Tatal
As at March 31, 2022 ol 4.84 2.06 - 0.03 092 4.86
As at March 31,2021 058 0.57 0.89 0.37 028 0.87 3.56

The apeing of trade receivables does not include expected credit loss.

Reconcilation of impairment allowance on trade and other receivables and contract assets
Impairmeat allowance measured as per simplified approuch

Amount
Impairment allowance as on April 1, 2020 0.72
Add / (less): Provision for expected eredit losses 0.16
As at March 31, 2021 g;f‘
Provision for expected eredit Toss 0.54
Reversal of provision (0.49)
As at March 31, 2022 0.92
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a fi ial 1 will fl te because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises

three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market
risk include loans and sdvances. deposits and FVTOCT invesiments.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate rigk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of 2 fi ial i will fl hi of changes in market interest rates, The
Company's exposure 1o the risk of changes in market interest rates relates to the Company's unsceured loan,

Exposure to intercst rate risk: Nil exposure a5 there are no borrowing as on March 31, 2022 & March 31, 2021

Interest rate sensitivity analysis for variable instruments: Nil exposure as there are no horrowing as on March 31, 2022 & March 31, 2021

Liguidity risk

Liyuidity risk is the risk that the Company may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral ublll,anum without incurring unacceptable losses

The Company's objective is to, at all times maintain opts levels of liguidity to mect its cash and coll 1 reg The Comp closely itors its
liquidity position and deploys 2 robust cash £ system. It maintains adeguate sources of fi ing including loans from banks at an optimised cost,

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s firancial liabilitics bascd on contractual undiscounted payments.

As at March 31, 2022

Carrying amount On Demand Upto | year More than I year Total

Other financial liabilities 9261 - 92.61 - 92.61
Trade payables 36.23 0.34 55.89 - 56.23
Total 148.84 034 148.50 - 148.84
As at March 31, 2021

Carrying amount On Demand Upio 1 year More than 1 year ‘Total
Ceher financial labilities 61.20 - 61.20 - 61.20
Trade payables 30.92 12.97 17.95 - 30.92
Taotal 92.12 12.97 79.15 = 9212
Foreign Carrency Risk
The foreign currency exp ofthe company on ivables and payables is not Tl
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Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited
Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
{All amounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

38 ArMarch 31, 2022, the Company had available INR 70.00 (March 31, 2021: INR 20.00) of undrawn bomowing facilities,
39 Previous year figures have been regrouped in line with current year presentation,

40 Other Statutory Information
(i¥The Company up do not have any Benami property, where any p ling has been initiated or
{ii)The Company do not have any transactions with companics struck ofT,
(iii)The Company do not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory year,
{iv)The Company has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.
{v)The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds fo any other (5} or entity(ics), including foreign entitics (T fiaries) with the unds ding that the T liary shall:
(a)directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on hehalf of the company
(Ultimate Beneficiaries) or
{b)provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries
(vi)The Company has not reccived any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the
Group shall:
(a)dircetly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entitics identified in any manner whatsoever by or an behalf of the Funding Party (Ulfimatc Beneficiaries) or
(blprovide any g1 ity or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries,
(vii)The Company do not have any such transaction which is nol recorded in the books of aceounts that has been surrenderced or disclosed as income during the year in the tax asscssments under
the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, scarch or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961,

pending against the Company for holding any Benami property.

41 Absolute amounts less than INR 5000 are appearing in the financial statements as "0.00" due to presentation in millions.
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